L ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A The trial court erred in awarding private school costs in violation 

of public policy, in light of relevant contextual evidence and case 

law of which there was more than one reasonable inference and in 

violation of Merkuria's due process rights. 

B. The trial court erred in granting "sole decision making" in the 

Final Parenting Plan to the Mother when there was no finding 

against the Father pursuant to RCW 26.09.191, no narrowly-drawn, 

compelling, State interest to interfere with Merkuria's liberty 

interests and Constitutionally-protected parental rights; 

disenfranchising him as an equal decision-maker and equal parent 

with the Mother.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The underlying case was initiated with a major modification 

[CP 21, per previous Appeal by Mekuria, the Father] fur a change of 

custody fur the Final Parenting Plan. [CP 11, per previous Appeal by 

kkkuria] was brought by Mekuria emanating from his continued 

concern regarding Menfe su 's inability to help the child with her 

school and to properly care fur her medically. Also, Menfesu failed to 

consult with Mekuria regarding medical issues in violation of the trial 

courts parenting onler. Further, Menfesu filed fur a minor 

modification that ended up, in actuality, making major changes in the 

onlers in violation of Mekuria's parental rights. 

Mekuria argued that the child was suffering educationally and 

that she suffered emotionally and physically as a result of Menfesu's 

inability to perform basic parenting functions pursuant to RCW 
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26.09.004(2)(b), RCW 26.W.004(2)(c) and RCW 26.W.004(2)(b) and 

(2)(e) inter alia. 

Merkuria argued further that there has been substantial 

contextual evidence, at Menfesu 's own admission, inter alia, that she 

has not performed her parental duties, that she has neglected same to 

the child's detriment, needed outside help to care for basic needs. 

Menfesu even had a witness testify that she is not able to do many of 

her parental duties; all the while, the Father was ready, willing, able 

and available to help the child in areas the mother could not. 

Merkuria was denied relief in every respect; with his petition 

for modification CP 21, pursuant to previous Appeal No. 72562-9-1 

filed by Merkuria and two reconsiderations being denied. CP 408 and 

CP 525. mter alia. 

Merkuria filed a major modification based upon Menfesu's 

representations of physical disability and inability to parent. Said 

action was dismissed upon revision; however, this ruling was 

appealed to the Court of Appeals; with a ruling in favor of Menfesu. 

This resulted in an awarded of over $31,000.00 in costs and rees 

against Merkuria. CP 440. Merkuria has always acted in good faith 

with all of his court actions. 
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Menfesu, then filed petition fur minor modification regarding Dispute 

Resolution, Decision Making, Transportation Arrangements, 

elimination of Mid Winter Break Provision from the Parenting Plan, 

and Telephone Contact Between Parents. 

Without Merkuria's knowledge permission, nor consent, 

Menfesu placed the child in a private school even though she has 

choices of good public schools in her neighborhood. Subsequently, 

Menfesu asked the court fur Merkuria to share in private school 

tuition, which the court granted. 

Other irregularities that have occurred are that the court didn't 

make a finding that Menfesu abused the legal process, nor did it place 

any restrictions upon Menfesu. Also, the court allowed a witness, Mr. 

Michael Kan.tu, which wasn't even on the witness list, CP 21, at the 

last minute on the first day of trial. RP 8. Based on the testimony of 

this new witness the trial court ordered Mekuria to volunteer a 

minimum of 20 hours to the school, CP 376 line 21. In fuct, the court 

accepted the Guardian Ad Litem's report and the Guardian Ad Litem 

being called as a witness even though there is no court order 

appointing the Guardian fur this trial. [The Guardian Ad Litem was 

appointed for the first segment of Merkuria 's major modification] In 
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fuct, Menfesu was given sole decision making capability even though 

the record shows that she has credibility issues and an inability to 

perform basic parental functions without outside help. 

The "minor" modification was thinly cloaked and resulted in 

major changes such as the Mother being given sole-decision making 

capability. This is "not" a minor change! Subsequent reconsiderations 

were filed; all dismissed against Merkuria and in fuvor of Menfesu. 

Hence, the necessity of this appeal. 

III. STATEMENT OF CASE 

A. trial was heard on Menfesu's Petition for a minor 

Modification of the Parenting Plan. The Honorable Judge Suzanne 

Parisien presided and entered final o:rders on July 11, 2014, a Final 

Parenting Plan CP 369, an Order on Modification CP 379, an Order of 

Child Support CP 383 and a Legal Memorandum of Findings. CP 404. 

Merkuria now asks this court to correct the trial courts errors 

and remand for further consideration by the trial court. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A Regarding private school tuition, Merkuria's position is 
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that private school tuition cannot be otdered by a court without certain 

requisite factors, including a pattern of private school being used for a 

substantial period of time and that a change from that pattern would 

be detrimental to the child. In fact, at the time of this trial the child 

was attending only kindergarten. 

Income and ability to pay are "not" factors for a court to 

render such otders; however, Judge Parisien otdered Merkuria to pay 

a portion of private school tuition if Menfesu could no longer obtain 

an adequate discount. "Based on the expressed desire of both parties" 

CP 523 line 21 was "stated" as the reason by the court yet, no findings 

were made regarding the above-referenced requisite factors. Minimal 

testimony was given regarding the necessity of same and no pleadings 

were filed in the record for private school yet, the court insinuated 

that Menfesu has a physical disability that interferes with her 

performance of parenting functions CP 524 and RCW 26.09.004. This 

is reversible error! The court must make a finding! Public policy 

factors regarding an otder for private school expenses were not 

followed, not testified to nor were they even considered. The court, 

sua sponte, simply otdered it! 

"Where acceptable public schools are available, and there is 
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no showing of special circumstances justifying the need for private 

school education, the noncustodial parent should not be obligated to 

pay for the private education of his or her minor children." Re 

Marriage of Stem, 57 Wn. App. 707, 720, 789 P.2d 807 (1990). 

In the instant case, there was no evidence presented to the 

court for the court to even consider. 

Menfesu's counsel attempted to convince Merkuria that he had 

previous knowledge of the child's school by asking him different 

types of questions about this school CP 156, 157, 158, 159; however, 

Merkuria testified that his involvement with the school is controlled 

by Menfesu and the school did not do any type of communication 

with him. RP 94 line 15, RP 95 line 6, RP 96 line 7. 

At trial, Merkuria testified about sending the child to another 

private school. One of the reasons for this testimony was that he had a 

lower discount than what the mother pays, RP 226 line 22 , which was 

based upon his income at the time of the trial CP 546, CP 630. 

However, now Merkuria cannot afford to send the child to any private 

school because of his changed circumstance and inability to pay. The 

increased child support up from $300.00 to $786.83, CP 388 line 4 and 
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the judgment by the Court Of Appeal to pay attorney fees to the NW 

Justice Project to the amount of $31,165.06, CP 440. All have 

impoverished Merkuria 

In considering whether to older payment of private school 

tuition, the trial court should consider all relevant factors, including 

"family tradition, religion, and past attendance at a private school." In 

Re Marriage ofVander Veen, 62 Wn. App. 861, 866, 815 P.2d 843 

(19CJ1). In Vander Veen, there was no attempt to make statements or 

provide one single shred of proof on the record as to what factors 

applied to warrant a request fur private school tuition and there was 

no award of private school tuition. Two (2) of the three (3) factors do 

not exist at all. Neither parent had a tradition of going to private 

school. The child has no siblings that went to private school and there 

was "no" tradition. 

Further, Rule CR 52 Findings and Conclusions state that 

findings and conclusions in an action tried on the facts without a jury 

or with an advisory jury, the court !!!JiE.find the facts specially and 

state its conclusions of law separately. The findings and conclusions 

may be stated on the record after the close of the evidence or may 

appear in an opinion or a memorandum of decision filed by the court. 
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Judgment must be entered under Rule 58. 

Jn the matter at hand, no substantial evidence appears in the 

record to justify a request fur private school rees, no argument 

regarding an acceptable public school alternative, no argument 

regarding exceptional educational needs and no evidence regarding 

Merkuria's ability to pay fur same other than the amount of his salary. 

The trial court never explained its decision orally and entered no 

:findings on the matter; thus, the evidence in the record is inadequate 

to persuade an ordinary, reasonable person, of the need fur private 

schooling. Thus, an adequate basis fur a finding of special 

circumstances justifying an obligation to pay such expenses has not 

been presented. 

As the parent requesting assistance with private tuition costs, 

the bwden plainly lays upon Menfesu to make a showing justifying 

the imposition of such an obligation on Merkuria but Menfesu did not 

do. See Marriage of Vander Veen. Thus, the trial court's ruling 

regarding private school must be reversed. 

B. Regarding sole decision-making, Merkuria was deprived of 

his Constitutionally protected fundamental parenting rights without 

just cause; especially since Merkuria had said rights prior to them 
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being changed. Merkuria has a Constitutional right to the care and 

custody of his child just as Menfesu does. The court presumes that a 

fit parent acts in a child's best interests. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 

57, 120 S. Ct 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000). Merkuria has legal right, 

barring a finding of being unfit, to participate in decision-making fur 

his child. This is Merkuria's right not a privilege granted or taken 

away by a court! 

Also, the rights of parents to the care, custody and nurture of 

their children is of such character that it cannot be denied without 

violating those fundamental principles of liberty and justice which lie 

at the base of all our civil and political institutions, and such right is a 

fundamental right protected by the r•, 5th, 9th, and 14th Amendments. 

Doe v. Irwin, 441 F Supp 1247; U.S. D.C. of Michigan, (1985). 

Further, in the 1920's [and nothing has changed in this regard] 

the Court asserted that the right of parents to raise and educate their 

children was a "fundamental" type of "liberty" protected by the Due 

Process Clause. Meyer v. Nebraska, 2f>2 U.S. 390 (1923) and Pierce v. 

Society of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 535 (1925). 

In :tact, in Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 502 (1965), 

Justice White in his concurring opinion offered "this Court has had 
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occasion to articulate that the liberty entitled to protection under the 

Fourteenth Amendment includes the right "to marry, establish a home 

and bring up children," and ''the liberty ... to direct the upbringing 

and education of children," and that these are among "the basic civil 

rights of man." Justice White then added; These decisions affirm that 

there is a "realm of mmily life which the state cannot enter" without 

substantial justification. Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 1()6. 

There has been "no" substantial justification and no unfitness in the 

matter at hand to order sole decision-making to Menfesu and to deny 

Merkuria such right! 

Any preliminary determination of unfitness of a parent must 

be based upon a well-founded allegation and any interference with a 

parent's fundamental right must be based upon a compelling State 

interest that must be narrowly drawn. A court may place restrictions 

upon a party's decision-making if it is found that the parent engaged 

in conduct that is outlined in section RCW 26.09.191. In the Custody 

of Nunn, 103 Wn. App., 883, 14 P.3d 175. The court made no such 

findings in the matter at hand and, thus, cannot deprive Merkuria of 

his parental decision-making rights. Family court is not different than 

a criminal court in that a court cannot find a defendant not guilty of 
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assault, yet throw the defendant in jail anyway and deprive defendant 

of his liberty interests without proper findings. This is reversible error. 

Also, In Meyer v. Nebraska, 'lb2 U. S. 390, 39'J, 401 (1923) it 

was determined that the rights of parents to "bring up children" and 

"to control the education of their own" is protected by the 

Constitution. See also Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U. S. 700., 72fJ 

(19'J7) at 761. 

As United States case law has developed, it became more and 

more clear that parents have a Constitutional right to determine, 

without undue interference by the state, how best to raise, nurture, 

and educate their child. This parental right stems from liberties 

protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268 U. S. 510, 534-535 (1925); Prince v. 

Massachusetts, 321 U. S. 158, lfi6 (1944); Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U. S. 

645, 651-652 (1972); Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U. S. 205, 232-233 (1972) 

and Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753-754 (1982). 

Merkuria has the right to participate in parenting decisions. As 

otherwise outlined herein, this is not some privilege that the trial court 

can grant or deny without just cause; thus, the trial courts error in this 

regard must be reversed! 
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C. Regarding transportation, Menfesu is capable of providing 

transportation; however, the court otdered Merkuria to do all 

transportation and/or meet Menfesu close to her residence. 

Transporting a child is a basic parenting function and there was no 

RCW 26.09.191 finding that Menfesu has any parenting inabilities or 

disabilities that hinder her performance of parenting functions. This 

responsibility should be shared or allocated more equally. The trial 

court made no finding, 

If the court empathizes with Menfesu's alleged blindness 

excuse and yet makes "no" finding in this regard, nonetheless, the 

court is not left at large to decide cases in light of its personal and 

private notions. It cannot be said that a Judge's responsibility to 

determine whether a right is basic and fundamental in this sense vests 

him with unrestricted personal discretion. Griswold v. Connecticut, 

381 U.S. 479, 502 (1965) at 493 w/FN7. The trial court exhibited 

prejudice [preconceived idea] regarding transportation and, therefore, 

its decision must be reversed. 

D. In the 2010 trial there was never a finding about 

Menfesu's sight impairment RP 426 lines 10-16, RP 427 line 23, RP 

453 line 22, and RP 452 line 17; yet Menfesu testified under oath, on 
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numerous occasions, that she has sight impairment and needs relief. 

The Mother's Counsel also testified in this regard, RP 428 line 16-17. 

In her affidavit to request Accommodations Under the 

American With Disabilities Act, Menfesu states "I am legally blind I 

currently receive SSDI due to 11Q1 blindness. I have .Multi Focus 

Coloritis of Retina. This is a degenerative disease which has resulted 

in no sight in one eye and only limited sight in the other eye. I can see 

some light and shadows, but I can not read ordinary printed 

documents, even with a magnifying glass or enlarged print" CP 19. 

Declaration of Menfesu's Counsel states "This is a 

degenerative disease which are resulted in no sight in one eye, and 

only limited sight in the other. She can see some light and shadows, 

but she can not read ordinary printed documents, even with 

magnifying glass or enlarged print. " CP 15 line 20. 

Menfesu also testified she had no problem watching the child 

while the child is playing with other kids in the park RP 391 lines 14-

22 and RP 392 line 2-4 and her Counsel knew her client was able to 

read RP 410 line 2-5, as well as, Menfesu stated that she is blind in 

one eye and sees light and shadow through the other eye; but, when 

the court asked her about sorting colors during laundry Menfesu 
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testified she had no problems distinguishing colors RP 642 line 9-20. 

According to Menfesu, she was blind for about 8 years and yet 

she doesn't know how to read brail RP 474 line 24. She also stated 

" ... Because we don~ have such things as checkups back home, I 

always thought I had vision." RP 420 line 4. But it is a requirement by 

the U.S. Embassy to take a complete physical examination before one 

is granted visa to immigrate to the United States; thus, Menfesu 

would likely been told if she had vision issue. 

Further, when asked by the court if she had any assistance 

from a group who assist blind people in parenting, RP 439 line 1-15 

Menfesu's response was ''not any" and conflicting RP 439, 440, 441, 

442. Menfesu never attended parenting training prepared for visually 

impaired people. Instead, she took parenting class like other sighted 

people did from a training center for sighted people RP 439 line 6 and 

CP 340 line 7 and 8. Menfesu's attorney testified that her client is 

completely blind in one eye, RP 428 line 16-17; but, when asked by 

the court in trial Menfesu testified both eyes are blurry 

RP 434 line 14, RP 435 line 3. 

RCW 9A76.175, which provides, in its appropriate sections 

that it is a misdemeanor to knowingly make a raise or misleading 
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material statements to a public servant. The court should have otdered 

some remedial actions to the best interest of the child. 

Regarding RCW 26.09.004(2)(c) findings, the court should 

have found, given the evidence presented by Merkuria, that Menfesu 

railed and/or neglected necessary parenting functions. It is an 

uncontested met that Menfesu has someone else helping the child 

with her homework and, in met, Menfesu refuses to help with her 

homework, transportation and neglected proper medical necessities 

pursuant to RCW 26.09.004(2)(c). Because of Menfesu's inability to 

perform basic parenting functions the child must be cared by different 

people to support her basic needs which should be provided by her 

own parents. 

The court should have been compelled to document in Section 

21 of the Final Parenting Plan that Menfesu either refused or 

substantially neglected to perform basic parenting functions" RCW 

26.09.191(2)(a)(i). This includes parenting functions such as help with 

education, help with transportation and medical issues. The court 

should be aware that Menfesu unilaterally obtained an immunization 

at a doctor that was not the child's regular, primary doctor, CP 554. 

She also did so at the wrong time. 

16 



The Parenting plan should have been set up dependent upon 

Menfesu's abilities and/or inabilities to meet the child's needs; 

particularly in areas in which the Mother cannot help the child. 

Menfesu testified that parenting of the child has been done by other 

people, RP 385 line 12-15, and the child's educational assistance is 

done by other people while the :father is fit and around to help. [See 

testimony of Menfesu RP 344 line 15-17, Menfesu 's wittiness Ms. 

chin RP 184 line 23-25 and RP 185 line 1-15. RP 192 line 25, RP 193 

line 1-5. Merkuria is available to help the child in these crucial areas 

where Menfesu cannot. 

Merkuria testified that Menfesu 's inability to folly parent the 

child on her own and the potential consequences of involving many 

people in the child's parenting RP 498 line 15-25. 

In deposition, Menfesu could not spell "Cry House" CP 289 

line 18-19 and "Alexis" CP 300 line 22; but, when asked how she helps 

the child with her reading, CP 288 line 23, Menfesu replied "the child 

would spell the word fur her and she would read it, CP 289 line 4. Not 

only is Menfesu 's inability to help the child hurting the child, 

Merkuria is being barred from involvement in his child's life against 

his Constitutional right to raise and get involved in his child's life. U.S. 
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Supreme Court Quillon v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246 (1978) 434 

U.S. 246. 

It should stand to reason that the court should have been more 

concerned about Menfesu 's negligence or willful refusal to help the 

child with homework, transportation and rendering proper medical 

care. The court abused its discretion in this regard. 

The court must not treat parties disparately under the law. 

Merkuria requests that this court instruct the trial court to make a 

proper finding in the best interests of the child. 

E. The trial court erred in railing to find that Menfesu railed to 

attend to the child's medical needs pursuant to RCW 26.09.004(2)(b) 

and (2)(e) and created parental conflict in railing to consult with the

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