NO. 72562-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

SOLOMON MEKURIA,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

ASTER MENFESU,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.



BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT

Elizabeth A. Helm, WSBA #23840

NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT

401 Second Ave S. Suite 407

Seattle, Washington 98104

Tel. (206) 464-1519

Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant,
Aster Menfesu

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE

1. Mr. Mekuria's argument that the allocation of decision-making infringes upon his constitutional liberty interest as a parent is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the facts and circumstances in this case and the law applicable to this minor modification.

This modification involves the allocation of decision-making between two parents. A trial court's decision concerning parental decision-making is ordinarily reviewed for an abuse of discretion. In re

Marriage of Jensen-Branch, 78 Wn. App. 482, 490, 899 P.2d 803, 808

(1995 citing Munoz v. Munoz, 79 Wn.2d 810, 813–14, 489 P.2d 1133

(1971); see also In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 801, 854 P.2d

629 (1993).

Mr. Mekuria argues the parents should have joint decision-making for both educational decisions and non-emergency medical decisions. Sole decision-making for educational decisions was awarded to Ms. Menfesu at trial in 2010. CP 654. Ms. Menfesu did not request a change to educational decision-making in the minor modification that was before the court in this case. CP 684. Mr. Mekuria did not present any

evidence to support a change to the educational decision-making, although he continued to insist during trial that he wanted to have "equal responsibility like the mother." RP 96. He could not articulate a substantial change of circumstances that would support a modification of educational decision-making. RP 247. The court's order allowing Mr. Mekuria to seek a modification of educational decision-making in the future without a showing of substantial change of circumstances (CP 406) is addressed below in Ms. Menfesu's argument on cross-appeal.

In 2010, the final parenting plan allocated non-emergency medical decision-making to the parents jointly. CP 661. Ms. Menfesu requested a modification of the non-emergency medical decisions based on a substantial change in circumstances that existed since the entry of the final parenting plan. CP 664. Adequate cause was found on her petition. CP 676. Mr. Mekuria conceded to adequate cause on her petition. CP 679. Both the expert hired by Ms. Menfesu, Seth Ellner, and the Guardian ad Litem, Lisa Barton, recommended to the court that Ms. Menfesu have sole decision-making regarding non-emergency medical care and the court found that the parties could not communicate well enough to have joint decision-making. CP 406. The court awarded her sole decision-making for non-emergency medical care and education based on the parties' inability to communicate. CP 406, 375. Mr. Mekuria does not challenge the court's

finding with respect to the parties' ability to communicate. Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. Zunino v. Raiewski, 140 Wn.App. 215, 220, 165 P.3d 57 (2007), citing Davis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 94Wn.2d 119, 123, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980).

Mr. Mekuria's argument on appeal claims that the court's order of sole decision-making to Ms. Menfesu is a constitutional infringement upon his fundamental parenting rights. To support his argument, Mr. Mekuria mistakenly relies upon and misconstrues the holdings in Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000), and the line of U.S. Supreme Court cases cited in **Troxel**. **Troxel** addressed the rights of parents versus non-parents. While the U.S. Supreme Court cases cited in Troxel do for the most part support the proposition of a fundamental liberty interest with respect to parenting, they are inapposite to the facts of this case. None of these cases hold that all parents have a constitutional right to joint decision-making. Unlike these Supreme Court cases, this case involves the permissible determination by the court of the allocation of decision-making between two parents. Mr. Mekuria does not make an argument as to why the statutory framework adopted by the legislature in the State of Washington regarding parenting plans and the court's authority to allocate decision-making between parents is unconstitutional.

The law does not distinguish between litigants who elect to proceed pro se and those who seek assistance of counsel. In re Marriage of Olson, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993). Both must comply with applicable procedural rules, and failure to do so may preclude review. Id. at 626; State v. Marintorres, 93 Wn. App. 442, 452, 969 P.2d 501 (1999). An appellant must provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3(a)(6). The appellate court generally will not consider arguments that are unsupported by pertinent authority, references to the record, or meaningful analysis.

Cowiche Canvon Conservancy v. Bosley. 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

The Washington State Legislature has set forth a statutory framework for the courts to apply to the allocation of decision-making between parents in Washington State. In fashioning a parenting plan, the trial court seeks to maintain the child's emotional stability, to clearly establish the parents' responsibilities and to minimize the child's exposure to harmful parental conflict. RCW 26.09.184(1)(b); (d); (e).

To reach these objectives with regard to allocating decisionmaking authority between the parents, "[t]he plan *shall* allocate decisionmaking authority to one or both parties regarding the children's education, health care, and religious upbringing". (emphasis added) RCW 26.09.184(4)(a). The trial court "shall order" sole decision-making authority to one parent if one parent is opposed to joint decision-making and that opposition is reasonable under RCW 26.09.187(2)(c). RCW 26.09.187(2)(b). Among the factors the trial court must consider in RCW 26.09.187(2)(c) are:

The history of participation of each parent in decision-making in each of the areas of RCW 26.09.184(4)(a);

Whether the parents have a demonstrated ability and desire to cooperate with one another in decision-making in each of the areas in RCW 26.09.184(4)(a)[.]

RCW 26.09.187(2)(c)(ii); (iii).

The court was well within its discretion to award non-emergency medical decision-making to the mother in this case on the basis that the parties cannot communicate. This finding is amply supported by the record. There was no substantial change of circumstances to warrant a change to the 2010 allocation of educational decisions to the mother. Religious decision-making is not affected by this order.

2. The trial court properly exercised its discretion to order the exchange of the child to be at the WalMart in Renton near the mother's home when school is not in session.

Ms. Menfesu requested a transfer location of the child for visitation when the transfer does not take place at school under RCW 26.09.260(10). The evidence in the record supports the court's decision to make that location the WalMart in Renton. For most exchanges, the father picks up and drops off the child at school, in Renton, near the mother's home as set forth in the 2010 parenting plan. CP 654. After school started, the parties continued to use the police station at Myrtle Street in Seattle's Beacon Hill area as their secondary exchange location. Ms. Menfesu asked for the secondary exchange location to be at WalMart because it is difficult for her to get to and from the police station. That location requires her to take a long bus ride, and she and the child often spend forty minutes or more if they have to wait for the bus. RP 319. It was also difficult for the child to travel to and from the transfer point in the rain and cold because the bus does not drop off passengers near the police station. RP 339. Sometimes the police station was not open, and Ms. Menfesu was afraid of the father. RP 320-321. She asked to have the transfer point moved to the WalMart in Renton because it is within walking distance from her home, where she and the child can wait inside to escape the

weather and where there are other people. RP 333-334, CP 664. The court entered an order specifying the WalMart in Renton as the exchange location when the child is not in school. CP 369. While the court did not make any findings regarding this provision, the record supports it. In addition, the father agreed to the change. RP 564-565. The new location is five minutes from the previous location, making the change in the father's travel time minimal. Exs. 24, 35, RP 53-55.

3. Ms. Menfesu's blindness was not properly before the court and is not a basis for limitations.

Mr. Mekuria argues the court erred when it did not make findings that Ms. Menfesu has either willfully or neglectfully failed to perform parenting functions with respect to education and medical care and attending to the child's needs under the statute setting forth definitions used in RCW 26.09. He cited nothing in the record to support his claim that such findings should have been made. He also fails to present argument or authority as to why the court should ignore its previous ruling in this case. His petition for major modification based on essentially the same arguments, was dismissed by the trial court. That dismissal was affirmed on appeal, and Mr. Mekuria's arguments were found to be without merit. Mekuria and Menfesu at 131. Despite these rulings against him, Mr. Mekuria again wants an affirmative statement from the court that

Mr. Menfesu cannot parent because she is blind. Not only is the issue not before the court in Ms. Menfesu's minor modification, Mr. Mekuria presented no new evidence at this trial to support a conclusion that a substantial change in circumstances exists to support any limitation on Ms. Menfesu's parenting related to her blindness. He simply repeats the same arguments time and time again without citing anything in the record to support them.

Mr. Mekuria refers to Ms. Menfesu's disability as her "alleged blindness excuse" and argues that because she cannot drive, and seeks assistance from friends and neighbors for some tasks she is "refusing" to perform parenting functions. That argument is akin to saying that he "abandons" the child when he goes to work and "refuses" to perform parenting functions when his wife does household chores or drives the child to exchanges, or when she or others take care of his daughter. When asked if he had anything positive to say about Ms. Menfesu's parenting, Mr. Mekruia admitted that he "cannot witness about Ms. Menfesu," and that he hasn't "been in her home." RP 233. The mother's enlistment of others to assist her with certain tasks is far from neglectful; it is a sign of strength and good parenting. She is a responsible parent who makes sure her child's needs are being met. Mr. Mekuria's request for findings against Ms. Menfesu on the basis of her blindness is without merit.

4. The court properly allocated payment of school tuition fees to both parents.

The mother proposed a sharing of tuition costs if the cost were to increase more than 25% or if the child were to lose her scholarship. CP 39. The father did not object to these proposals. He brought up this issue for the first time in his motion for reconsideration. CP 408.

Both In re Marriage of Van der Veen, 62 Wn.App. 861, 815 P.2d 843 (1991) and In re Marriage of Stern, 57 Wn. App. 707, 789 P.2d 807 (1990), cited by Mr. Mekuria in support of his argument, articulate the need for the trial court to make findings related to an order requiring payment of private school tuition. The list of factors to consider is non-exclusive.

There is no prohibition against the award of private school tuition for a minor child. Factors such as family tradition, religion, and past attendance at a private school, *among others*, may present legitimate reasons to award private school tuition expenses in favor of the custodial parent. <u>Vander Veen</u> at 865-866 citing <u>Stern</u> at 720. (emphasis added)

The record in this case supports proper findings for an allocation of private school expenses. Mr. Mekuria expressed a preference to have the child attend a different Christian school nearer to his home (CP 227). The mother clearly wanted the child to attend private school, and enrolled

Eden at St. Anthony's, a private Catholic school near the child's primary residence in Renton. RP 347. She chose this school because it was highly recommended by other parents as one of the best schools available. RP 347. Both parents had decision-making authority regarding exposure of the child to religion. CP 661. The mother had sole decision-making authority with regard to education. CP 661. The child had been attending St. Anthony's prior to trial. The child was doing well in school. RP 35-39.

The father clearly stated a desire that the child attend private school, albeit a school of his choosing (Concordia, a private Lutheran school in Seattle, some distance from the child's primary residence). RP 227. Pastor Seyoum indicated that Mr. Mekuria wanted Eden to attend a private school, and that education was very important in his culture. CP 695. The father also expressed his desire to send Eden to private school in his interview with the GAL. CP 689. She noted that the father stated that he "could send Eden to a good private school." CP 689. In arguing for the child to be enrolled in a school of his choosing in one of his motions before the court in this case, he stated "The child will have friends there, in a safe, loving environment with high ethical standards and a strong policy against bullying, teasing or other problems that are almost epidemic in some public schools." CP 487.

Mr. Mekuria states in his brief that Ms. Menfesu placed Eden in St. Anthony's "without his knowledge, permission nor consent."

However, Mr. Mekuria was notified about the school in advance of the start of school. RP 98, 347-348. Ms. Menfesu did not require his permission or consent as she had sole decision-making regarding education. CP 661. The father did not raise an objection to the school at the time the child was enrolled, or at any time before trial. He did not object to the allocation of tuition between the parties until after trial.

In her response to the Motion for Reconsideration filed by Mr. Mekuria objecting to the provision regarding tuition, Ms. Menfesu agreed proper findings needed to be made in order to support the allocation of payment of expenses, and she further argued the record before the court provided support for those findings. CP 447. The court entered an order on reconsideration which included specific findings in support of its ruling². CP 523. The court properly exercised its discretion when it made the child's school tuition the responsibility of both parents if the tuition should increase by 25% or more.

_

² It should be noted, however, that the court in its handwritten addition to the findings noted that the child should also attend private school because of smaller class sizes, despite the fact that there is no evidence in the record to support this finding.

B. ARGUMENT ON CROSS-APPEAL

1. The trial court's order allowing Mr. Mekuria to modify educational decision-making two years in the future without a showing of a substantial change in circumstances is an abuse of discretion.

A trial court's rulings on parenting plans are reviewed for abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." Littlefield, at 46-47. A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. Littlefield, at 47.

a. The court abuses its discretion when it fails to follow the procedures set forth by the legislature for a modification of the parenting plan.

The court's order allowing Mr. Mekuria to seek a modification of educational decisions in the future without a showing of substantial change of circumstances, bypasses the statutory procedures required for

any modification. RCW 26.09.260 sets forth the procedures and criteria to modify a parenting plan.

These procedures and criteria limit a court's range of discretion. In re Marriage of Hoseth, 115 Wn.App. 563, 569, 63 P.3d 164 (citing In re Marriage of Shryock, 76 Wn.App. 848, 852, 888 P.2d 750 (1995)), review denied, 150 Wn.2d 1011, 79 P.3d 445 (2003). Accordingly, a court abuses its discretion if it fails to follow the statutory procedures or modifies a parenting plan for reasons other than the statutory criteria. Id.

<u>In re Custody of Halls</u>, 126 Wn. App. 599, 606, 109 P.3d 15, 19 (2005)

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